UNIVERSITY OF WUPPERTAL BERGISCHE UNIVERSITÄT WUPPERTAL

EUROPÄISCHE WIRTSCHAFT UND INTERNATIONALE MAKROÖKONOMIK



Deniz Erdem

Foreign Direct Investments, Energy Efficiency and Innovation Dynamics

Diskussionsbeitrag 189 Discussion Paper 189

Europäische Wirtschaft und Internationale Wirtschaftsbeziehungen European Economy and International Economic Relations ISSN 1430-5445

Deniz Erdem

Foreign Direct Investments, Energy Efficiency and Innovation Dynamics

July 2011

Herausgeber/Editor: Prof. Dr. Paul J.J. Welfens, Jean Monnet Chair in European Economic Integration

EUROPÄISCHES INSTITUT FÜR INTERNATIONALE WIRTSCHAFTSBEZIEHUNGEN (EIIW)/ EUROPEAN INSTITUTE FOR INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC RELATIONS Bergische Universität Wuppertal, Campus Freudenberg, Rainer-Gruenter-Straße 21, D-42119 Wuppertal, Germany Tel.: (0)202 – 439 13 71 Fax: (0)202 – 439 13 77 E-mail: welfens@eiiw.uni-wuppertal.de www.eiiw.eu

JEL classification: F21, O14, Q43, C33 Key words: Foreign Direct Investments, Technology transfer, Energy efficiency, Decomposition analysis

Summary: Rapid growth in energy consumption influences on the one hand energy prices and endangers energy supply security; on the other hand it distresses ecological balances. In this respect, the efficient use of energy resources plays a key role for challenging these problems in the long run. Thus, without innovations and its diffusion to broad regions, global energy efficiency improvements cannot be realized. In this context, Foreign Direct Investments (FDI) are important elements of technology transfer to developing countries and to emerging economies. The aim of this paper is to explain the relationship between FDIs and technology determined energy efficiency. For this purpose, the change of industrial energy intensity has been analyzed with the decomposition methodology that adjusts structural effects from energy intensity changes. Finally, a panel data analysis has been conducted that points out that there is a significant correlation between FDI and technology determined energy efficiency improvements in the eastern EU-members and Cohesion countries.

Zusammenfassung: Rasantes Wachstum im Energieverbrauch beeinflusst einerseits die Energiepreise und riskiert die Sicherheit der Energieversorgung. Andererseits gefährdet es das ökologische Gleichgewicht. In dieser Hinsicht spielt langfristig der effiziente Einsatz Energie-Ressourcen Schlüsselrolle. eine Allerdings können von Energieeffizienzfortschritte auf einer globalen Ebene ohne Innovationen und ihre Diffusion auf weite Regionen nicht realisiert werden. In diesem Zusammenhang sind die ausländischen Direktinvestitionen (FDI) wichtige Elemente des Technologietransfers in Entwicklungs- und Schwellenländer. Diese ändern allerdings auch die Struktur der Wirtschaft und der Produktion im Gastland. Diese strukturellen Änderungen und deren Auswirkung auf den Energiekonsum wurden in der Literatur häufig ignoriert. Das Ziel dieses Papiers ist es, den Zusammenhang zwischen ausländischen Direktinvestitionen und die durch die Technologie determinierte Energieeffizienz zu untersuchen, wobei die strukturellen Effekte aus dem Datensatz anhand einer Zerlegungsanalyse (Decomposition analysis) bereinigt werden. Schließlich wurde eine Panel-Daten-Analyse mit "countryspecific-effects" durchgeführt, welche einen signifikanten Zusammenhang zwischen ausländischen Direktinvestitionen und Technologie-determinierter Energieeffizienz in den östlichen und südlichen EU-Mitgliedsländern aufweist. Diese Ergebnisse bekräftigen die bestehenden theoretischen Grundlagen in Bezug auf positive Effekte von ausländischen Direktinvestitionen auf das technologische Niveau der Gastländer einerseits. Eine weitere Schlussfolgerung, andererseits, ist, dass die wirtschaftliche Integration mittelbar zu einer effizienteren Nutzung von Ressourcen beiträgt.

Deniz Erdem, Research Assistant at European Institute for International Economic Relations (EIIW) at the University of Wuppertal, Rainer-Gruenter-Str. 21, D-42119 Wuppertal, Phone: +49-202-4391371, Fax: +49-202-4391377

emons@eiiw.uni-wuppertal.de , www.eiiw.eu

Foreign Direct Investments, Energy Efficiency and Innovation Dynamics

Discussion Paper 189

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	I
List of Tables	II
List of Figures	II
1. Introduction	1
2. Key questions related to innovation theory, environmental technologies and it	S
diffusion	2
2.1 Environmentally friendly innovations and their diffusion	5
2.2 International technology diffusion issues and impact of FDIs on innovation and	d
energy efficiency	7
2.2.1 Spillover effects and technology transfer through FDI and imports	7
2.2.2 Compulsive innovation effects of FDI and imports through enhanced	
competition	10
2.2.3 FDI, imports and environmental issues: A brief literature review	11
3. Beyond the energy intensity – A decomposition analysis of the energy intensit	у
for the manufacturing sector in selected EU-Member Countries	12
3.1 FDI and energy efficiency: Focusing on the technology	12
3.2 Methodology	13
3.3 Data and results of decomposition methodology for selected countries	15
4. FDI trends and influence of FDI on technology effect: A panel analysis	23
4.1. Global FDI trends since 80's	23
4.2. Panel analysis	26
5. Conclusions	29
References	31
Appendix: Description of studied industries	36

List of Tables

Table 1. Determinants of the decision to adopt an environmentally beneficial tech	nology 6
Table 2. Data: definitions of variables	
Table 3. Descriptive statistics	
Table 4. Regression results (Period specific effects)	

List of Figures

Fig.	1.	Global greenhouse emission by sector, 20001
Fig.	2.	Decomposition analysis of energy intensity change for selected EU-Countries
Fig.	3.	Change in FDI stock in selected countries

1. Introduction

Since the beginning of industrialization and even more so since the globalization of modern economies, a worldwide rise in the demand for energy has been observed. Despite the use of new technologies, consumption per capita has continuously increased. Economic internationalization trends since the 90s have also contributed to the rising demand for energy. Consequently, the strong global demand for energy has had two major effects. On the one hand, the rapid growth in demand has accelerated the exhaustion of resources and has contributed to relative price increases in certain periods. On the other hand, such a rapid economic growth of the world economy and global energy consumption threaten the global ecological equilibrium. In this context, one can emphasize that especially end use activities like industrial production (incl. Electricity&Heat production) stand for the lion share of the CO_2 emission. The following figure shows the impact of selected sectors on global greenhouse gas emissions.



Source: World Resources Institute, Climate Analysis Indicator Iool (CATI), Navigating the Numbers: Greenhous Gas Data and International Climate Policy, December 2005; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 1996 (data for 2000).

Fig. 1. Global greenhouse emission by sector, 2000

In this respect, the efficient use of energy resources in industry plays a key role and technological progress is a crucial factor in energy efficiency improvements. Thus, it is important to adopt both a broader focus of innovation on the intensively energy demanding sector in leading OECD countries and to accelerate the upgrading of energy technology in newly developed countries and LDCs (Less Developed Countries). However, foreign sources of technology account for 90% or more of the domestic productivity growth in most developing countries. At present only a handful of OECD countries account for most of the world's creation of new technology. G-7 Countries accounted for 84% of the world's research and development (Keller, 2004). Furthermore, ambitious political goals set in the international arena with respect to energy efficiency have raised the interest in

economic and technological catching up; this points to the importance of understanding the Schumpeterian dynamics and the role of Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs) and multinational companies (MNCs), which are a key resource of technology transfer and know-how diffusion for developing countries. World Development Report (WB, 2010) in chapter 7 also emphasizes the importance of international cooperation and technology diffusion.

The aim of this study is to explain and to test the relationship between FDIs and technology determined energy efficiency. In this context, the research question of this paper serves, in particular, to the remarkable research area in international economics: to what extent multinationals do contribute to the knowledge accumulation of developing countries. However, there are fewer attempts on the adjustment of structural effects in the relevant literature. A further contribution of this study would be to consider and to adjust the structural change caused FDI inflows while we analyze the "pure" technology determined energy efficiency.

The paper consists of five sections. In the following chapter, we will briefly discuss to what extent the general innovation and diffusion theory can be applied to energy saving technologies. A further focus will be on the specifics of environmentally friendly and energy saving innovations technologies. Next (2.3), we will try to construct a theoretical foundation for the hypothesis that FDIs increase the technology level in the host country and that this improved technology level contributes to the efficient use of energy. In this context, it will be important to consider various elements of international innovation dynamics.

Answering these question would help clarify technological effects of FDI. In the light of the requirement for detailed data, a decomposition analysis will therefore be conducted in third chapter on a macroeconomic rather than a microeconomic level (2-digit sectors). After giving a brief overview on FDI facts in the fourth chapter, the correlation between FDI and technology determined energy efficiency improvements in the EU-Accession countries will be tested econometrically. In the fifth chapter, the paper will draw conclusions which can be useful for policy makers.

2. Key questions related to innovation theory, environmental technologies and its diffusion

In the neoclassical literature, the technological change is described as the change in the economy's information set detailing the relationship between inputs and outputs in the economy. In other words, a technological advance enables the economy to produce more from the same level of input as time proceeds. There are two main concepts in the neoclassical theory of technical change: The first one is the difference between embodied and disembodied technical change, and the second is the bias and direction of the technical change (see for further discussion Stoneman, 1983).

However, innovation processes cannot always be described by formal models and methods, rather evolutionary and neoclassical theories can be used complementary or in a 'dual' way. During the research into the reasons and effects of innovations, the analytical precision and stringency of neo-classical models that are related to the equilibrium concept should not be disclaimed. Another reason for a complementary analysis is the isomorphs to evolutionary theoretical assumption in other disciplines: For example, selection and mutation concepts can be also considered as exigency (necessity) and randomized processes that may point to the mathematical and economic equilibrium concept. The third reason for a "dual" analysis is the well established and empirically proven evidence of the neoclassical innovation theory that could create positive effects if it could be integrated with its evolution of theoretically based approaches. For this reasons, we will conduct in the following section a "dual" analysis.

Karl Marx claims, in his work 'Capital', that firms will be able to stay competitive only if they can increase their productivity by introducing new technologies and more efficient machinery while those, who fail to adopt new technologies, will eventually not survive. Schumpeter adopts and improves this argument in his theory. Other than the traditional assumptions related to "price" competition, he claims that competition based on the technology and related quality is the nature of a capitalistic system (Schumpeter, 1943, p. 84):

"... in capitalist reality as distinguished from its textbook picture, it is not that kind of competition that counts but the competition from the new commodity, the new technology, the new source of supply, the new type of organization (...) - competition which commands a decisive cost or quality advantage and which strikes not at the margins of the profits and the outputs of the existing firms but at their foundations and their very lives."

In this way, Schumpeter (1912) broadens the existing approach by defining the innovations not only by process innovation (reducing the costs), but also by:

- Product innovations,
- Carrying out of the new organization,
- Opening a new market,
- Development of new sources, using new raw materials or new combinations of input,

According to the OSLO Manual (2005, pp. 31-32), product innovations can take two forms:

- "A *technologically new product* is a product whose technological characteristics or intended uses differ significantly from those of previously produced products. Such innovations can involve radically new technologies, can be based on combining existing technologies in new uses, or can be derived from the use of new knowledge. (...)
- A technologically improved product is an existing product whose performance has been significantly enhanced or upgraded. A simple product may be improved (in terms of better performance or lower cost) through the use of higher-performance components or materials, or a complex product which consists of a number of integrated technical sub-systems may be improved by partial changes to one of the sub-systems."

According to the same Manual (2005), process innovations can be characterized by "its adoption of technologically new or improved production methods, including methods of product delivery. These methods may involve changes in equipment, or production organization, or a combination of these changes, and may be derived from the use of new knowledge. The methods may be intended to produce or deliver technologically new or improved products, which cannot be produced or delivered using conventional production methods, or essentially to increase the production or delivery efficiency of existing products." In comparison to product innovations, an organizational innovation is the implementation of a new organizational method in the firm's business practices, workplace organization or external relations.

A simple (linear) model of innovation process contains three phases. It is often considered to provide a useful categorization. The first phase is the invention process and stands for the generation of new ideas. The second phase is the innovation process and symbolizes the development of new ideas into concrete products and processes. The last phase is the diffusion stage, in which the new products and processes spread across the potential market. The impact of a new technology occurs at the diffusion phase and opens up its economic potential (Stoneman, 1983). Diffusion can also be driven by the imitator, which can contribute to the process with further improvements. This process can also be considered as a circle, where feedbacks between single stages can affect each other.

In the relevant literature, there are numerous findings about the determinants of the innovation process (Steger et.al, 2005, pp. 37):

- Innovation through a "technology push": Innovation can be created systematically. R&D (manpower, equipment, materials etc.) is one of the most crucial inputs. Economic environments and related changes can influence this process. E.g. relative factor price ratios can influence the direction of innovation. (Hicks 1932, Popp 2002). Popp (2002) shows in his study, that both energy prices and the quality of existing knowledge have significantly positive effects on innovation. Additionally he proves that omitting the quality of knowledge adversely affects the estimation results. In another research, Grupp (1999) shows that high-energy price signals stimulate innovations. In addition, the political measures related to pricing are effective in environmental issues.
- 2. Innovation through "demand pull": The innovation process is shaped, by the prospect of profits. With free and unrestricted competition, these profits are always only head-start profits, meaning they will be destroyed by imitators.
- 3. Cost advantages in the innovation process: First-mover advantage enables the innovator to benefit and to shape a new market according to its preference (e.g. through setting standards).
- 4. "Embodied" and "disembodied" technical change: Apart from the "embodied" type of technical change, there is also "disembodied" technical change that includes the management and economic organization of the production process (organizational innovation).
- 5. Trajectory-dependence of the innovation process: The direction and process of innovations can only be changed at high costs when they are in their so-called

trajectories. When the trajectory is fixed, incremental and continuous improvements can take place that contribute to its further consolidation.

- 6. Regional clusters: Regional concentrations (clusters) of e.g. intellectual properties and competences enhance the macroeconomic innovation activity. Such clusters are mainly the result of geographic proximity and social proximity.
- 7. Cooperation (R&D joint ventures, strategic alliances): The success of innovation processes can be enhanced by the cooperation of various agents.
- 8. National innovation systems: It describes, in a systematic manner, the cooperation between agents and institutions involved in the production, transfer and utilization of knowledge.
- 9. International links in the innovation process: Intensive foreign trade relations produce learning effects, which in turn accelerate innovation activities. As an outcome of globalization, technology and knowledge transfer, the innovation process is enhanced on an international scope.

However, without diffusion of a technology and a product, an innovation cannot have any economic impact. Diffusion of a technology¹ is the way in which innovations spread through different channels from their very first implementation to different consumers, countries, regions, sectors, markets and firms. The minimum requirement for a change in a firm's products or functions to be considered an innovation is that it is to be new (or significantly improved) to the firm (OECD OSLO Manual, 2005).

2.1 Environmentally friendly innovations and their diffusion

Innovation theory is neutral regarding its generalization. Nonetheless, the environmentalsaving innovations have to contribute to the sustainability regarding its content and orientation. However, "usual" business innovations may have environmental gains as well (e.g. through the company cost saving etc.)². FIU (1998) defines eco-innovations as follows:

"Eco-innovations are all measures of relevant actors (firms, politicians, unions, associations, churches, private households) which develop new ideas, behavior, products and processes, apply or introduce them and which contribute to a reduction of environmental burdens or to ecologically specified sustainability targets,

Eco-innovations can be created by companies or non-profit organizations, and they can be traded on markets or not, their source can be technological, organizational, social or institutional. However, improvements in environmental technologies are broadly as each improvement in processes and products that conserves or restores environmental qualities

¹ In a neoclassical way, in the literature there are different models describing the diffusion of technologies like epidemic diffusion models: see e.g. Griliches (1957) and Mansfield (1963). Another variante is rational choice models (see e.g. Beckenbach, 2010).

 $^{^{2}}$ MIP (Mannheimer Innovationspanel, 1996 in Rennings, 1999) supports this evidence: Almost 80% of innovative companies contribute to environmental innovations.

(like water, natural resources e.g.). They can conserve environmental qualities directly through the treatment of pollution (like recycling) or they can contribute to the production of less harmful outputs. OECD classifies the environmental technologies into six main groups plus monitoring technologies that can contribute to the pollution preventing (Kemp, 1997):

- 1. Pollution control technology
- 2. Waste management technologies
- 3. Clean technologies
- 4. Recycling technologies
- 5. Clean product technology
- 6. Clean-up technology
- + Monitoring technologies

In this point, we have to mention that deployment of energy efficient processes can be counted under a variety of technology types like clean technologies or pollution control technologies.

The reason why companies and households invest in environmentally friendly products and capital can be explained by economic, political, technical and social factors. Regulations and policies, people's awareness of the existing technology, the costs of technology, and their capability to use them are some of the important factors influencing the diffusion of environmental technologies. Kemp (1997) describes the most important factors in three groups:

Table	1.	Determinants	of	the	decision	to	adopt	an	environmentally	beneficial
	t	echnology								

Adoption decisions				
System of Features of the Characteristics of the				
information transfer	innovation	adapter environment		
- Information	-Purchase price	-Environmental standards		
channels		-Acceptance of environmental policies		
-Information supply	-Performance	-Environmental awareness and attitudes		
	comparison to competing	-Price and cost structure		
		-Availability and costs of complementary		
-Credibility of	technologies) etc.	techniques and skills		
Information		-Age of capital stock		
		-Competitive pressure		
		-Resistance to change		
		-Availability of financial means & credits		
		-Societal pressure to reduce environmental impact		

Source: Kemp (1997, p. 97)

In this manner, the determinants of energy efficiency improvements depend also to the firm rules, corporate culture and the company's perception of it level of energy efficiency. The lack of knowledge, perceived risks of adaption, limited number of technology providers, uncertainties related to energy prices or capital limits, or relatively slow rate of industrial capital stock turn over are some of the barriers against the implementation of better technologies (UNIDO, 2010, p 11-13).

However, the theoretical facts we revised briefly are not yet satisfactory to explain the diffusion of environmental technologies on an international level. In the next section, we will study briefly the background of international technology transfer and try to answer the question from an economic point of view why domestic companies should employ new technologies after the introduction of FDI and foreign products to the local market.

2.2 International technology diffusion issues and impact of FDIs on innovation and energy efficiency

2.2.1 Spillover effects and technology transfer through FDI and imports

Since the globalization of modern economies, a worldwide rise in trade and investments has been observed and international trade³ and capital movements –especially direct investments⁴- are widely accepted as keys to economic growth. They have contributed to the increase of wealth e.g. in the transition process of formerly centrally planned economies, and they are currently contributing to the economic growth of developing countries. Therefore most developing and transition countries have designed and developed their economic strategies on this base.

FDI can improve productivity in the host country if it is more productive than the domestic companies. FDI indirectly creates demonstration effects and productivity spillovers to domestic firms via product and process imitation and increases knowledge level via exchange of employees or horizontal and vertical spillover linkages. However, sharp national productivity differences have remained for some countries, explaining a large part of the difference in national incomes because technology plays an important role in shaping productivity. In this respect, technology and know-how transfer from abroad are sine qua non conditions for sustainable growth in developing countries. For this reason, many policymakers in developing countries are offering attractive incentives like lower income taxes/income tax holidays, import duty exemptions, subsidies for infrastructure, etc. to foreign investors. However, there is evidence that the productivity⁵ growth effects of FDIs are quite heterogeneous.

Mansfield and Romeo (1980) state, in their study on developing countries, that only a few MNCs (MultiNational Companies) contribute to technology transfer, while according to Rhee and Belot (1989) FDIs contributed to a domestic productivity and export boom in e.g. Bangledesh and Mauritis. Nevertheless, Germidis (1977) could not find any evidence of productivity growth in the 12 developing countries (65 Firms). He explains this to be due to:

³ The positive relationship between trade and growth has been intensively studied in the literature. (see Krugman, 1983; Horstmann/ Markusen, 1992; Helpman, 1984; Markusen, 1984; Tadesse/Ryan, 2004; Bloningen, 2005; Bloningen, 2001; Buckley/Casson, 1981; Helpman/Melitz/Yeaple, 2004; Yeaple, 2008; Aizenman/Noy, 2005; Lipsey/Weiss, 1981)

⁴ See e.g. Findlay, 1978; Rivera-Batiz/Rivera-Batiz, 1991; Borensztein/De Gregorio/Lee, 1998; De Mello, 1997; Blomström/Lipsey/Zejan, 1994)

⁵ In our context, productivity can also be assumed as energy efficiency.

- The lack of domestic employees in higher positions
- Little labor mobility between domestic and foreign companies
- Limited subcontracting in local firms
- No domestic R&D and no incentive to diffuse know-how

Other authors find a positive relationship between FDI and productivity or related indicators like value added per worker. (see Caves (1974) for Australia and Globerman (1979) for Canada; see also Blomstrom/Persson (1983), Blomstrom (1986), Blomstrom/Wolff (1989) for further discussion). Aitken and Harrison (1999) find that foreign equity participation increases the plant's productivity, but evidence was only observed in small enterprises. In the Venezuelan case, there is no spillover observed from foreign firms to domestic: The result is that the net productivity increase effect is very small.

Eaton/Kortum (1999) emphasize that FDI and international trade are one of the crucial channels of technology diffusion. Their model has three concluding remarks:

- 1. Foreign R&D can raise domestic TFP (Total Factor Productivity): An increase in foreign research enables a greater inflow of technologies and higher TFP in both the short and the long run.
- 2. **Technology diffusion from abroad and its speed:** A given research effort abroad has a greater effect on domestic TFP when foreign technologies can diffuse faster in the domestic economy.
- 3. Global sources of technology: A country is important in determining the world's rate of growth if it has a relatively high share of the world's research labor and technologies, and/or a relatively high rate of technology diffusion compared to other countries.

As in the second point indicated, developing countries can benefit from a technology transfer only if they reach a minimum level of human capital (see Blomström/Lipsey/Zejan, 1994), which again requires investment in education. Ciruelos and Wang (2005) find that both FDI and trade serve as important channels of international technology diffusion. However, there are fewer studies where the importance of energy efficiency is emphasized, while all of the studies cited before focus on technology transfer, spillover and productivity gains (see Saggi (2002) for a further discussion). Hübler (2010) formulates the positive relation based on general productivity gains via FDI and imports and the spillover effects in the way same way as Nelson and Phelps (1966) and Findlay (1978):

$$\dot{A'} = \phi(\varphi, k, m) \Big[T' - A' \Big] \Leftrightarrow \frac{\dot{A'}}{A'} = \phi(\varphi, k, m) \Big[\frac{T'}{A'} - 1 \Big]$$
$$\frac{\partial \phi(\varphi, k, m)}{\partial h} > 0; \frac{\partial \phi(\varphi, k, m)}{\partial k} > 0; \frac{\partial \phi(\varphi, k, m)}{\partial h \partial k} > 0; \frac{\partial \phi(\varphi, k, m)}{\partial m} > 0; \frac{\partial \phi(\varphi, k, m)}{\partial h \partial m} > 0$$

 A_t is the technology (or total factor productivity) in practice in the host country, changing over time *t*.

Technological development via technology diffusion is described as the time derivative of

A_t, denoted by A'. T_t is the level of the exogenous technology frontier⁶ in the industrialized region (IND). The level of technology diffusion is dependent on the IND-H technology gap, T_t minus A_t. Φ is the spillover strength, which depends positively on the level of human capital (φ) in H, which is exogenous. In a broader sense, φ also contains other factors like property rights, telecommunication possibilities, infrastructure etc. We assume that Φ increases with foreign capital intensity k and import intensity m. φ , k and m are complements, they boost each other. At this point, Hübler (2010) takes this forward and considers backward and horizontal spillovers across industries separately, while capital and import shares in each sector and year play an important role:



Total factor productivity a_H increases exogenously: Exogenous total factor productivity growth is the only source of technological progress in most of the developing regions. K stands for capital, while Y/L denotes productivity. Higher capital intensity means higher technology diffusion speed. μ is a constant parameter that stands for the general spillover strength in the host country. μ_K (spillover effect via investments) and μ_M (spillover effect via imports) describe *horizontal* technology spillovers across firms within a sector *i*. Technology diffusion associated with μ_B and μ_F determine *vertical* technology spillovers across firms between sectors in the production chain while D^{bit} stands for the value of intermediate goods transferred from the backward sector b to sector *i*. In the same way e.g. K^{ft} denotes foreign capital in a forward downstream sector. Summing up over all upstream and downstream sectors, all inter-sectoral vertical spillovers are captured. *A*, *K*, *D*, *M*, *L* and *Y* are endogenous and φ rises exogenously.

Empirical findings on the basic impact of international capital movements on the environment can be summarized as follows: Investments and new production factors can increase the technology level of the host country through know-how transfer (and competition effects provided such effects really occur). In addition, improvements in productivity and energy efficiency cause "crowding-out effects" and force inefficient local firms to integrate their production processes⁷.

 $^{^{6}}$ It is assumed that capital invested and goods imported from IND to host country (H) contain technologies up to this frontier level. But there is a time lag of availability in the host country.

⁷ One assumption should be that the MNCs are competition and not export oriented.

Briefly, the model demonstrates that as long as there are no barriers to spillover effects and technology transfer, a rise in FDIs and imports should increase the knowledge level in the host country and its related productivity. In the described model, Hübler (2010) shows the increase of labor productivity via FDI. In a further model, this argument can be expanded by an increase in the productivity of energy (or efficient use of energy).

2.2.2 Compulsive innovation effects of FDI and imports through enhanced competition

In this context, Bertschek (1995) answers the question of why domestic companies should implement new technologies in their own processes and use the resources more efficiently or minimize their costs after the entrance of FDIs and imports, with the following theoretical framework:

The price p_i that a single domestic firm can achieve:

(1)
$$p_i = p_i(q_i, Q_{-i}^D, Q^F, M, PD_i)$$

The price p_i is dependent on the domestic market volume Q, which is covered by the domestic firm q_i , plus the other domestic companies Q^{D}_{-I} , firms with foreign owners Q^{F} , as well as on imports M⁸. Another determinant of the prices is product quality, which can be increased by product innovations PD_i.

The output is dependent on the stocks of FDI at the end of the previous period

$$(2) \qquad Q_t^F = Q_t^F (FDI_{t-1})$$

Furthermore, the marginal costs c_i depend on the factor prices w_i , product innovations PD_i and process innovations PC_i . We assume that process innovations cause fixed costs C_{PC} .

(3)
$$c_i = c_i(w_i, PD_i, PC_i)$$

The profit function for the domestic firm can be read as:

(4)
$$\prod_{i} i = pi(q_{i}, Q_{-i}^{D}, Q^{F}, M, PD_{i})q_{i} - c_{i}(w_{i}, PD_{i}, PC_{i})q_{i} - C_{PC}$$

while an increase in the factor prices w_i or product innovations PD_i increase marginal costs, process innovations PC_i reduce them.

Bertschek (1995) supposes that the domestic firm attempts to maintain its previous profits, therefore the total differentiation of Equation (4) yields:

(5)
$$d\prod_{i} = \left(\frac{\partial p_{i}}{\partial q_{i}}dq_{i} + \frac{\partial p_{i}}{\partial Q_{-i}^{D}}dQ_{-i}^{D} + \frac{\partial p_{i}}{\partial Q^{F}}dQ^{F} + \frac{\partial p_{i}}{\partial M}dM + \frac{\partial p_{i}}{\partial PD_{i}}dPD_{i}\right)q_{i}$$
$$+ p_{i}(.)dq_{i} - \left(\frac{\partial c_{i}}{\partial w_{i}}dw_{i} + \frac{\partial c_{i}}{\partial PD_{i}}dPD_{i} + \frac{\partial c_{i}}{\partial PC_{i}}dPC_{i}\right)q_{i} + c_{i}(.)dq_{i} - dC_{PC} = 0$$

In context with this, the effects of the two forms of foreign competition on innovation activities can be distinguished. For process innovations we can conclude that:

(6)
$$\frac{dPC_i}{dQ^F} = \frac{\partial p_i}{\partial Q^F} \left/ \frac{\partial c_i}{\partial PC_i} > 0 \text{ and } \frac{dPC_i}{dM} = \frac{\partial p_i}{\partial M} \right/ \frac{\partial c_i}{\partial PC_i} > 0.$$

⁸ An increase in $Q^{D}_{\mbox{-}i}\,Q^{F}$ or M exercises a negative influence on the price $p_{i}.$

Assuming that the marginal return of a product innovation is higher than its marginal costs, the expression for product innovations follows:

(7)
$$\frac{\frac{dPD_i}{dQ^F} = -\frac{dp_i}{dQ^F} \left/ \frac{\partial p_i}{\partial PD_i} - \frac{\partial c_i}{\partial PD_i} > 0 \text{ and} \right.}{\frac{dPD_i}{dM} = -\frac{dp_i}{dM} \left/ \frac{\partial p_i}{\partial PD_i} - \frac{\partial c_i}{\partial PD_i} > 0 .$$

According to this model, it can be concluded that FDI and imports stimulate product as well as process innovations: We can associate the shortcoming of the model with our hypothesis that FDIs should increase the technology level and enhance innovations as well as related efficiency of energy use.

2.2.3 FDI, imports and environmental issues: A brief literature review

The relationship between the internationalization of economies and environmental sustainability has been a key issue since the late 1970s. The interest in the topic has tremendously increased since the 90s, in the wake of Environmental Kuznets Curve; A national income per capita over a certain level is a turning point for increasing demand for environmental quality (see Dietrich, 2011 for further insights).

FDI and imports can decrease energy consumption per capita in a direct and an indirect way. The first one is over technology transfer channels and spillover effects described before. The second one is through competition. Foreign firms can stimulate innovation and raise capital endowment through competition. Keller and Levinson (2002) investigate the relationship between FDI inflow to the USA and environmental costs. They find that there is a positive relationship between FDI and environmental protection. Similar findings have been provided by Antweiler, Copeland and Taylor (2001). They find that technology transfer is coupled with the effects of scale created by international trade, resulting in the reduction of e.g. sulphur dioxide pollution. Above all, trade liberalization enables policy makers and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) to put pressure on inefficient domestic companies. Nevertheless, unintended adverse side effects can occur because of neglecting other policy, market or institutional imperfections during the catching-up process of developing countries. On the political level, the debate on climate change after the Kyoto process and the Stern Review (2007) have increased the popularity of the belief to a positive relationship between FDI/trade and the environment⁹. Thus, according to Munashinghe, developing countries could learn from the experiences of industrialized countries, and restructure growth and development to 'tunnel' through any potential EKC (Environmental Kuznets Curve)-thereby avoiding going through the same stages of growth that involve relatively high (and even irreversible) levels of environmental harm.

Thereby, domestic firms can realize improvements in energy efficiency and decrease their energy intensity by getting rid of old technologies. Higher productivity results from the spillover effects of advanced technologies and educational improvement, but also from advanced management skills. This conjecture largely holds if over time there is a rising technology level, successful restructuring of production processes and a higher level of

⁹ However, it is also useful to take research into consideration on aspects of the "pollution havens" hypothesis (see e.g. Sprenger, 1999).

competition. The assumptions of many of the relevant researchers are mostly based on the advantages brought by capital movements, and above all, the results of FDI. The theoretical background of most studies fits to the model developed by Grossman/Helpman (1994) that allows the examination not only of how technology affects trade, but also how trade affects technology, too.

Another important question is whether the effects of international trade on energy use can be measured via environmental indicators. Dean (2002) discusses the question of the relationship between economic openness and the environment, taking the example of China's water pollution levels. She claims that freer trade boosts environmental damage via the terms of trade, but mitigates it via income growth.

3. Beyond the energy intensity – A decomposition analysis¹⁰ of the energy intensity for the manufacturing sector in selected EU-Member Countries

3.1 FDI and energy efficiency: Focusing on the technology

The hypothesis that foreign companies are more efficient/productive than their indigenous counterparts in developing countries is confirmed by studies based on micro and firm-level data (see Eskeland and Harrison (2003) for Cote d'Ivoire, Mexico and Venezuela). A similar result is documented by Fisher-Vanden et al. (2004), who found a negative impact of foreign ownership on the energy intensity of Chinese companies. These examples suggest that the more efficient technology of foreign firms can indeed contribute to an energy reducing effect via technology transfer.

On an aggregated level, Mielnik and Goldemberg (2002) conclude that FDIs have a reducing impact on energy intensity. They conduct a regression analysis of 20 developing countries. Hübler and Keller (2010) examine in their panel analysis the relationship between energy intensity and FDI in 60 developing countries on an aggregate level and they find no empirical evidence. Nevertheless, both papers with an aggregated level assume change in energy intensity as a technological change, which is not completely consistent. Nonetheless, aggregated energy intensity alone is not a perfect indicator for measuring technology transfer, because an improvement in energy intensity (=energy efficiency) can contain two components:

- Structural effect: A structural change in the composition of economy on a sectoral basis and a shift to the less energy-intensive sectors
- Technological effect: A technological change or improvement e.g. new organizational or process innovation.

¹⁰ This kind of an analysis can only be conducted for the manufacturing sector. See appendix for the considered sectors.

3.2 Methodology

To standardize the findings about innovation dynamics, specified tools are needed for energy efficiency, which can be narrowly described as a value-based, philosophical concept. According to EIA, two different concepts of energy efficiency can be discussed, a technical and a broader, more subjective concept:

In the technical concept, increases in energy efficiency take place when either energy inputs are reduced for a given level of service or there are increased or enhanced services for a given amount of energy input. In the more subjective concept, energy efficiency is the relative thrift or extravagance with which energy inputs are used to provide goods or services. (EIA, 1995)

Energy intensity, however, refers to the energy used per unit of output or activity. The total energy consumed in a sector, for example, is a product of energy intensity and total output. When output is measured in physical units, an estimate of physical energy intensity is obtained (e.g. TJ/Tonne). Economic energy intensity, on the other hand, is calculated using dollar value output measures (e.g. TJ/Gross Domestic Product in \$).

Nevertheless, energy intensity alone doesn't give a consistent insight into the technological level of a country (compare e.g. OECD-Countries to LDCs). However, change in the energy intensity is the most commonly used basis for assessing trends in energy consumption per unit. Energy intensity is thought to be inversely related to efficiency, the less energy required to produce a unit of output or service, the greater the efficiency. A common conclusion in the literature (see e.g. Mielnik and Goldemberg, 2002) is that declining energy intensities on a national and aggregated level over time may be an indicator of improvements in technology levels and energy efficiency¹¹. Nevertheless, on an aggregate level, the ratio of energy use to output (or GDP) can be used to interpret the structure of the economy as well, because it also depends on the production structure of the country^{12, 13}.

The effects described above can be explained by the following expression:

$$\mathbf{I}_{t} = \sum\nolimits_{j} \left(\mathbf{S}_{j,t} \right) \left(\mathbf{I}_{j,t} \right)$$

 I_t : aggregated energy intensity of the whole industry at t,

 $S_{j,t}$: the production share of the sector j at the entire production and at t,

 $I_{j,t}$: the energy intensity of the sector j at t.

¹¹ A truly technical definition of energy efficiency can only be obtained through measurements at the level of a particular process or plant.

¹² However, it can be also expected that a country X with important energy-intensive heavy industries can experience structural changes compared to non-energy intensive sectors like services that "improve" its aggregated energy intensity.

¹³ Nevertheless, there are some concerns about the generalization grade of the empirical analysis of energy intensity. Walz and Eichhammer (2010) emphasize that a comparison of intensities or changes over time can contain two caveats. On the one hand different exchange rates or conversion methods, on the other hand different structure of economies can complicate a benchmarking among the countries. We try to overcome these concerns by following Ang/Zhang (2000) and APERC (2001).

The changes of the effects mentioned above can be represented either as sum or as a product of the components. With the additive method, the decomposed terms are independently determined, whereby their sum differs from the total energy consumption or the total energy intensity by R (residual term).

$$\Delta I_{total} = I_t - I_0 = \Delta S + \Delta I + R$$

With the multiplicative method, the components are separately determined, whereby their product differs from the change of total energy intensity by R (the residual term of the multiplicative method). S and I thereby stand for the estimated structural effect and the estimated intensity effect.

$$RI = \frac{I_{t}}{I_{0}} = (S) * (I) + R$$

We use an index decomposition methodology to examine the impact of a sector's structure and technological improvements on energy intensity change. There are different decomposition methods; Ang and Zhang (2000) give a survey of different decomposition methodologies. This study chooses to apply a Multiplicative Log-Mean Divisia Method, which has exposed to be "perfect in decomposition but also consistent in aggregation" (Ang and Zhang, 2000)¹⁴:

 Y_{it} = unit of activity or subsector's production in year t

$$El_{it} = \frac{E_{it}}{Y_{it}}$$

 El_{it} = energy intensity of subsectors

$$S_{it} = \frac{Y_{it}}{Y_t}$$

 S_{μ} = structural parameter

Energy intensity approach:

$$El_{agg} = \sum_{i} S_{it} * El_{it}$$

 El_{agg} = aggregate energy intensity

$$S_{i,t} = \text{Production share of sector } \vec{i} \text{ in year } t \left(= \frac{Y_{i,t}}{Y_t} \right)$$
$$El_{i,t} = \text{Energy intensity of sector } \vec{i} \text{ in year } t \left(= \frac{El_{i,t}}{Y_{i,t}} \right)$$

¹⁴ In our analysis, we use index time set '0' as a synonym for the basis/comparison year, t-1. In the entire data set, relative changes are based on the previous year.

$$F_{tot} = \frac{El_{aggt}}{El_{agg0}} = F_{str} * F_{int}$$

 F_{tot} = total change in aggregate energy intensity

 F_{str} = structural effects

 $F_{\rm int}$ = intensity effects

$$F_{str} = \exp\left\{\sum_{i} \frac{L(\omega_{i,t}\omega_{i,0})}{\sum_{j} L(\omega_{j,t}\omega_{j,0})} \ln\left(\frac{S_{i,t}}{S_{i,0}}\right)\right\}$$
$$F_{int} = \exp\left\{\sum_{i} \frac{L(\omega_{i,t}\omega_{i,0})}{\sum_{j} L(\omega_{j,t}\omega_{j,0})} \ln\left(\frac{El_{i,t}}{El_{i,0}}\right)\right\}$$

 ω_x = Energy share of sector \mathbf{i} in year $t \left(= \frac{E_{i,t}}{E_t} \right)$

where $L(x, y) = \frac{(y-x)}{\ln(y/x)}$

Following Martinez (2010), when expressing relative changes in energy intensity, we use log percentage change (L%) instead of ordinary percentage. Tornqvist and Vartia (1985) show that the log percentage change (L%) has asymmetric and non-additive properties The relative change of numbers X_1 and X_2 is expressed as:

$$L\% = \ln(\frac{X_1}{X_2}) * 100 = \left[\frac{(X_1 - X_2)}{L(X_2, X_1)}\right] * 100$$

indicating that the log difference is literally a relative difference with respect to the logarithmic meaning.

3.3 Data and results of decomposition methodology for selected countries

Here, we will analyze the different results obtained for three factors such as the total industrial intensity, intensity change due to the technical change and energy intensity change due to the structural effect. In the following discussions, we will try to identify the decomposed factors influencing the change in the total energy intensity in the selected industrial sectors of the new European Union members and some accession countries¹⁵. The conducted decomposition analysis is based on the industrial real production value (mill. Euro, nominal values are from Eurostat and real values are calculated via the GDP

¹⁵ Due to the lack of detailed FDI and industrial energy data of developing countries, we will only analyze selected EU-Members. If not otherwise stated, Eurostat is used as the main source of the sectoral energy, production data. Data on the GDP deflator and FDIs is obtained from the WDI online database.

deflator), final energy consumption in Terajoules¹⁶. The industries investigated here are the:¹⁷

- Iron and steel industry,
- Non-ferrous metal industry,
- Chemical industry,
- Non-metallic mineral products industry,
- Food, drink and tobacco industry,
- Textile, leather and clothing industry,
- Paper and printing industry,
- Engineering and other metal industry,
- Other non-classified industries,

Whereby, the first three, particularly the paper industries, can be supposed as energy intensive sectors. The results for the aggregated intensity change decomposed to intensity and structural effects for new EU-members are given in the next figures.

We can see that the changes in energy intensity of most EU Countries are driven both by structural and technological change. Nevertheless, in case of the Estonia, Latvia and Slovenia, the effect of structural change cannot be drawn clearly. Ireland is a remarkable case for having no clear relationship between intensity and technology effect; hence the positive relationship after 2002. In general, most of the countries practiced negative energy intensity changes¹⁸. Eastern European countries (incl. Romania, Lithuania, Czech Republic, Bulgaria and Slovakia plus Finland) are realizing energy intensity effects based on the technology change between 1997 and 2007.

Ireland is an exception, where the total intensity has been increasing in the last years. The same is also valid for Spain, Estonia and Portugal, which are counted as accession countries. The increasing energy intensity from 2006 can be explained by the influence of monetary terms or a relative decrease in production values.

¹⁶ The relationship between energy consumption and the value of output as calculated via a monetary proxy like GDP is considered weaker than the linkage between physical production and energy consumption values. Indeed, there is a major lack of data.

¹⁷ The industrial data offered by Eurostat for energy consumption and production values use different classifications. We dealt with the problem by using different concordance values described by CODED (Eurostat's Concepts and Definitions Database and RAMON). The ore extraction industry is not considered due to the lack of data. See appendix 1 for detailed information. CODED: http://circa.europa.eu/irc/dsis/coded/info/data/coded/en/Theme9.htm

¹⁸ We have to underpin that the analysis is based on the changes in comparison to the year before (t-1)



•













Source: Own calculations, 100% = 1996, changes for (t-1) Fig. 2. Decomposition analysis of energy intensity change for selected EU-Countries

4. FDI trends and influence of FDI on technology effect: A panel analysis

4.1. Global FDI trends since 80's

FDIs are assumed to be an important driver of economic growth in EU countries for the reason that the internationalization of production contributes to better exploiting the

comparative advantages of enterprises and countries. In addition, internationalization enhances competition in the host country and accelerates technology transfer and innovation activities.

Due to the economic opening of transition countries and changes in an economic expansion in Asia, international FDI flows were relatively high and had a positive trend during the 1990s. Thus, it fell back somewhat in 2001. During this process, Greenfield investments were playing an important role for the new Central European members of the EU. According to the statistics, internationalization activities of production increased significantly during the 1990s, approximately doubling the real inward FDI position of the average OECD country (measured in constant 1996 purchasing power parities) from \$81 billion to \$158 billion over the period between 1990 and 2000. Nowadays OECD countries account for over 80 per cent of global outward FDI and the United States and the EU countries hold almost three-quarters of total OECD inward and outward FDI positions. Of the EU countries, the United Kingdom, Belgium/Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Germany and France were the largest suppliers and receivers of FDI. Openness and proximity factors are important factors for some of these patterns: A significant share of global FDI flows takes place between countries in the same region. Regional trade agreements are crucial drivers of FDI flows: Thus, most European countries tend to host relatively more FDI originating from EU countries than from elsewhere, while FDI in Canada and Mexico originates to a large extent from the United States. Similarly, Pacific shore countries tend to host more FDI from the United States and/or Japan than from other OECD countries. (OECD, 2003).

From an historical point of view, due to the economic opening of transition countries and changes in an economic expansion in Asia, international FDI flows were relatively high and had a positive trend during the 1990s and fell back somewhat in 2001. During this process, Greenfield investments were playing an important role for the new Central European members of the EU. According to the OECD (2002), internationalization activities of production increased significantly during the 1990s, approximately doubling the real inward FDI position of the average OECD country (measured in constant 1996 purchasing power parities) from \$81 billion to \$158 billion over the period between 1990 and 2000. Nowadays OECD countries account for over 80 per cent of global outward FDI and the United States and the EU countries hold almost three-quarters of total OECD inward and outward FDI positions. Of the EU countries, the United Kingdom, Belgium/Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Germany and France were the largest suppliers and receivers of FDI. Openness and proximity factors are important factors for some of these patterns: A significant share of global FDI flows takes place between countries in the same region. Regional trade agreements are crucial drivers of FDI flows: Thus, most European countries tend to host relatively more FDI originating from EU countries than from elsewhere, while FDI in Canada and Mexico originates to a large extent from the United States. Similarly, Pacific shore countries tend to host more FDI from the United States and/or Japan than from other OECD countries. (OECD, 2003).

FDI inflows into the transition economies of South-East Europe and CIS increased significantly by 50% to reach a new record of \$86 billion in 2007 – the seventh year of continuous growth of FDI flows to this territory (WIR, 2009). Following figures show the

FDI trends to the East European and accession Countries which are also subject to our econometrical analysis.





Data Source: UNCTAD Online Fig. 3. Change in FDI stock in selected countries

4.2. Panel analysis

For the empirical analysis, we use FDI and energy data of 14 EU-Countries: Bulgaria, Czech Rep., Estonia, Finland, Hungary, Ireland, Lithuania, Latvia, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia and Spain. One of the most important reasons was the availability of data. Unfortunately, there is very limited data for decomposition analysis of developing countries so that we cannot conduct a solid analysis. The countries we chose are particularly new members of the EU and East European Countries that experienced transition period during 90's and in the beginning of the century. The rest of the examined

countries are cohesion countries that are still attractive for FDIs. We captured the data from Eurostat and WIR-UNCTAD databases. Thus, there is just very limited data on energy and production of Greece so that we could not take this country into consideration.

Variable	Definition	Source
FDI stock as a share of GDP	Foreign direct investment (FDI) is defined as an investment involving a long-term relationship and reflecting a lasting interest in and control by a resident entity in one economy (foreign direct investor or parent enterprise) of an enterprise resident in a different economy (FDI enterprise or affiliate enterprise or foreign affiliate). Such investment involves both the initial transaction between the two entities and all subsequent transactions between them and among foreign affiliates.	World Investment Report / UNCTAD
	FDI stock is the value of the share of their capital and reserves (including retained profits) attributable to the parent enterprise, plus the net indebtedness of affiliates to the parent enterprises	
Sectoral energy consumption	It covers the consumption in all manufacturing sectors with the exception of the "Energy sector" (in TJ)	EUROSTAT
Production value	The production value measures the amount actually produced by the unit, based on sales, including changes in stocks and the resale of goods and services 19 .	EUROSTAT
R&D expenditure (% of GDP)	Expenditures for research and development are current and capital expenditures (both public and private) on creative work undertaken systematically to increase knowledge, including knowledge of humanity, culture, and society, and the use of knowledge for new applications. R&D covers basic research, applied research, and experimental development	World Development Indicators / World Bank
Imports of goods and services (% o GDP)	Imports of goods and services represent the value of all goods fand other market services received from the rest of the world. They include the value of merchandise, freight, insurance, transport, travel, royalties, license fees, and other services, such as communication, construction, financial, information, business, personal, and government services. They exclude compensation of employees and investment income (formerly called factor services) and transfer payments.	

Table 2. Data: definitions of variables

We used change rates for the indicated variables (based on t-1)

We should limit our analysis only by 11 years, 1997-2007 plus the data for 1996 as the basis year, because of the unavailability of disaggregated production data for new EU Members. For calculating "pure" energy intensity within the decomposition methodology, we use a GDP deflator for the reason that the production data of sectoral output is given in nominal monetary values. For the reason that inflation and different valuations of production hinders year-to-year comparisons and comparisons across countries, we converted and normalized all nominal GDP data used for calculating indicators by the value of a 1995 international dollar at purchasing power parity following (APERC, 2001). Sectoral energy data was given in KJ so that there is no need for any adjustment. Finally, we interpreted the "pure" intensity effect as a change in technological change.

¹⁹ The production value is defined as turnover, plus or minus the changes in stocks of finished products, work in progress and goods and services purchased for resale, minus the purchases of goods and services for resale, plus capitalised production, plus other operating income (excluding subsidies). Income and expenditure classified as financial or extra-ordinary in company accounts is excluded from production value. Included in purchases of goods and services for resale are the purchases of services purchased in order to be rendered to third parties in the same condition (Eurostat's Concepts and Definitions Database, CODED)

	Energy Intensity (EI)	Change in FDI Stock as a share of GDP (ChFDIStGDP)	Change of Import share in GDP (ChImSh)	Change of R&D share in GDP (ChRD)
Mean	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000
Median	-0.003282	-0.015950	0.003848	8.27E-05
Maximum	0.250502	0.906763	0.377897	0.289406
Minimum	-0.253890	-0.475547	-0.183739	-0.217917
Std. Dev.	0.083718	0.193200	0.076153	0.082294
Skewness	0.187227	1.294.009	0.518764	0.310055
Kurtosis	3.964.386	7.205.269	5.928.058	4.038.868
Jarque-Bera	6.867.479	1.564.520	6.192.076	9.392.602
Probability	0.032266	0.000000	0.000000	0.009129
Observations	154	154	154	154

Table 3. Descriptive statistics

To estimate the regression, we use the pooled general least square method with both time and country specific fixed effects. The Durbin Watson test indicates no linear association between adjacent residuals from the regression models at the 5% level. The results confirm the finding of Mielnik and Goldemberg (2003) which is underpinning there is a negative relationship between FDIs and energy intensity. However, they used an overall change in energy intensity without considering the structural components. Thus, the data used in their analysis was not stationary (see Hübler and Keller, 2010). Before running a panel analysis, we conducted a unit root test for all of the variables, the results are unsuspicious.

In our main model, we test by considering period fixed effects. The assumption is that in the model not-considered factors like energy prices, absorption capacities, tax policies, elasticities etc., which vary over time, can influence our endogenous variable. Thus, we couldn't obtain related data.

Variable	Coefficient S	td. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.
С	0.976841	0.010434	9.361.87	6 0.0000
?CHFDISTGDP	-0.117053	0.040137	-2.916.32	9 0.0041
?CHIMSH	0.150702	0.105235	1.432.05	0.1544
?CHRD	-0.055773	0.083790	-0.665622	2 0.5067
Fixed Effects (Period)				
1997—C	-0.001738			
1998—C	0.016029			
1999—C	0.000812			
2000—C	-0.038920			
2001—C	0.016590			
2002—С	0.051157			
2003—С	0.066972			
2004—C	-0.018674			
2005—С	-0.028680			
2006—C	-0.041259			
2007—С	-0.022290			
R-squared	0.192599	Mean dependent var		0.961195
Adjusted R-squared	0.117626	S.D. dependent var		0.091313
S.E. of regression	0.085774	Akaike info criterion		-1.987.688
Sum squared resid	1.030.010	Schwarz criterion		-1.711.602
Log likelihood	1.670.520	Hannan-Quinn criter.		-1.875.543
F-statistic	2.568.912	Durbin-Watson stat		2.051.976
Prob(F-statistic)	0.003264			

Table 4. Regression results (Period specific effects)²⁰

The coefficient of FDI is reflecting that there is a negative relationship which is already explained in the theoretical chapter. Hereby, we should emphasize that our control variables -import shares and R&D changes- have no significant effect on technology induced energy efficiency improvements. However, the import products structure could explain this result; while R&D investments yield initial in the long-run (see Enos, 1962). Unfortunately, our data set on the selected countries are limited.

5. Conclusions

Since the opening of new markets in Asia and Euro-Asia zone, the debate on the security supply is getting for the reason more important that a faster exhaustibility of resources is

²⁰ In an attendant model, we tested the country specific random effects. The results didn't change: Additionally, if we investigate the coefficients of single countries, we differ that new members / Eastern EU countries have a negative constant (Slovenia is an extension) while cohesion countries and Finland have a positive constant. This can be explained by having different degrees of economic development.

setting the economic growth dynamics under pressure. On the other hand an increase of energy demand in the last decades and current energy supply system endanger the ecological equilibrium while one can handle global warming issues only by international cooperation. In this context, the innovations and diffusion of environmental and energysaving technologies are playing a key role. However, differences in knowledge stock and innovativeness is a crucial challenge the developing countries are facing while FDIs are one of the most important channels of technology transfer.

In the literature, there are numerous empirical and theoretical studies on the innovation effects of direct investments. There are also several researches on the correlation between trade, investments and the innovations that enhance environmental quality improvements. However, we could find only a limited number of studies on the energy efficiency and direct investments in a macroeconomic level. However, we could find only a limited number of studies on the relationship between direct investments and energy efficiency. Thus, the studies of Eskeland/Harrison (2003), Yue/Long/Zhuang (2011) and Fisher-Vanden et al. (2004) are using micro data while the studies of Mielnik/Goldemberg (2002) and Hübler/Keller (2010) are using macro data by handling energy intensity and change energy intensity as an indicator of technological improvement. Nevertheless, a change in energy intensity on the macroeconomic level can contain structural components as well.

In this study, we removed the structural effects from the change in energy intensity in manufacturing sector by using a decomposition analysis with a multiplicative log-mean Divisia method. We used 2-digit level industrial data of 14 EU-Countries, namely Bulgaria, Czech Rep., Estonia, Finland, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain. The main reasons for this choice were the availability of data plus the features of new members and cohesion countries. After adjustment from structural components from the change in energy intensity we implemented a pool data analysis for 12 years. We interpreted the "pure" intensity effect as a technological progress which can be perceived also as an improved indicator. The results of our panel data analysis showed that there is a relationship between FDIs and energy efficiency. This result supports the findings of Mielnik/Goldemberg (2002) and the majority of empirical studies about productivity increasing effects of FDIs via technology transfer and competition effects.

However, technology transfer isn't an easy process and is more complex than macro data can cover while political, institutional and sociological factors as well should be adapted beside economic components. In this context, a qualitative analysis based on micro data and interviews can justify our empirical analysis and give policy makers further insights.

References

- Aitken, B. J.,; Harrison, A. E. (1999). Do domestic firms benefit from direct foreign investment? Evidence from Venezuela. American Economic Review, 89 (June), 605–618.
- Aizenman, J.; Noy, I. (2006), FDI and trade Two-way linkages?, The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance, vol. 46(3), pages 317-337.
- Ang B.W.; Zhang F.Q.(2000) Survey of index decomposition analysis in energy and environmental studies, *Energy*, 25 :1149–76.
- Antweiler, W.; Copeland, B.R.; Taylor, M. S. (2001), Is Free Trade Good for the Environment? American Economic Review, 91(4).
- APERC (2001), Energy efficiency indicators, A study of energy efficiency indicators in APEC Countries, Asian Pacific Energy Research Center.
- Beckenbach, F.; Briegel, R. (2010), Multi-agent modeling of economic innovation dynamics and its implications for analyzing emission impacts, International Economics and Economic Policy, Volume 7, 317-341.
- Bertschek, I. (1995), Product and Process Innovation as a Response to Increasing Imports and Foreign Direct Investment, *The Journal of Industrial Economics* XLIII, 4, 341-357.
- Blomstrom, M. and Persson, H. (1983), Foreign investment and spillover efficiency in an underdeveloped economy: evidence from the Mexican manufacturing industry. World Development 11, pp. 493–501.
- Blomstrom, M. and Wolff, E. (1994) Multinational corporations and productivity convergence in Mexico. In: Baumol, W., Nelson, R. and Wolff, E., Editors, 1994. Convergence of productivity: Cross-national studies and historical evidence, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Blomstrom, M.; Lipsey R.; Zejan, M. (1994), "What Explains Developing Country Growth?," NBER Working Papers 4132.
- Blonigen B., 2001, In Search of Substitution Between Foreign Production and Exports, Journal of International Economics, vol. 53, pp. 81-104.
- Blonigen, Bruce A. "A Review Of The Empirical Literature On FDI Determinants," Atlantic Economic Journal, 2005, v33(4,Dec), 383-403.
- Borensztein, E., J. De Gregorio, and J. W. Lee (1998). "How Does Foreign Direct Investment Affect Economic Growth?" Journal of International Economics, 45.
- Buckley, P. J./Casson, M. C., The Optimal Timing of a Foreign Direct Investment, in: Economic Journal 91 (1981), S. 75-87.
- Caves, R.E. (1974) Multinational firms, competition and productivity in host-country markets. Economica 41, pp. 176–193.
- Ciruelos A.; Wang M. (2005), International Technology Diffusion: Effects of trade and FDI, *Atlantic Economic Journal* 33: 437-449.

- Copeland, B. R.; Taylor M. S. (1994), North-South Trade and the Environment", Quarterly Journal of Economics, 109(3): 755-787.
- de Mello, Luiz R., Jr., 1997. "Foreign Direct Investment in Developing Countries and Growth: a Selective Survey". The Journal of Development Studies. 34 (1), pp.1-34.
- Dean, J. (2002), Does Trade Liberalization Harm the Environment? A New Test, Canadian Journal of Economics, 35:819-842.
- Eaton, J.; Kortum, S. (1999), International Technology Diffusion: Theory and Measurement, *International Economic Review*, vol. 40(3), pages 537-70.
- EIA (1995), Measuring Energy Efficiency in the United States' Economy, A Beginning, pub. DOE/EIA-0555(95)/2, Energy Information Administration, October 1995.
- Enos, J. L. (1962) Invention and Innovation in the Petroleum Refining Industry. In: Rate and direction of inventive activity, 299–321. Princeton University Press.
- Eskeland, Harrison (2003), Moving to greener pastures? Multinationals and the pollution haven hypothesis, Journal of Development Economics, Volume 70, Issue 1, February 2003, P. 1-23.
- Findlay, R. (1978), Relative Backwardness, Direct Foreign Investment, and the Transfer of Technology: A Simple Dynamic Model. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 92(1) 1-16.
- Fisher-Vanden, K., G.H. Jefferson, H. Liu and Q. Tao. What is driving China's decline in energy intensity? Resource and Energy Economics 2004; 26; 77-97.
- FIU (1998) Forschungsverbund innovative Wirkungen umweltpolitischer Instrumente (Joint Project on Innovation Impacts of Environmental Policy Instruments) Rundbrief September RWI, Essen: in Rennings (1999).
- Germidis, D. (1977), Transfer of technology by multinational corporations. Paris: Development Centre of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.
- Globerman, S. (1979), Foreign Direct Investment and 'Spillover' Efficiency Benefits in Canadian Manufacturing Industries." Canadian Journal of Economics, February 1979, 12(1), pp. 42–56.
- Griliches, Z. (1957), Hybrid corn: an exploration in the economics of technical change, Econometrica, 48, 501–522.
- Grossman, G. M.; Krueger, A. B. (1995), Economic Growth and the Environment, Quarterly Journal of Economics, May 1995.
- Grupp, H. (1999): Environment-friendly innovation by price signals or regulation? An empirical investigation for Germany, Jahrbücher für Nationalökonomie und Statistik, Vol. 219, 611-631.
- Helpman E., 1984, A simple theory of international trade with multinational corporations, Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 92, pp. 451-472.
- Helpman E., Melitz M. and Yeaple S., 2003, Export versus FDI, NBER Working Paper No. 9439.

Hicks, J.R. (1932), The Theory of Wages. London: Macmillan.

- Horstmann, Ignatius J. & Markusen, James R., 1992. "Endogenous market structures in international trade (natura facit saltum)," Journal of International Economics, Elsevier, vol. 32(1-2), pages 109-129, February.
- Hübler, M. (2009). Energy Saving Technology Diffusion via FDI and Trade: A CGE Model of China. *Kiel Working Paper* No. 1479.
- Hübler, M.; Keller, A. (2008), Energy Savings via FDI? Empirical Evidence from Developing Countries, *Kiel Working Paper* No. 1393.
- Keller, W. (2004), International Technology Diffusion, Journal of Economic Literature, 42(3), pages 752-782.
- Keller, W.; Levinson, A. (2002), Pollution abatement costs and Foreign Direct Investment inflows to u.s. states, Review of Economics and Statistics 84, 691–703.
- Kemp, R (1997), Environmental Policy and Technical Change. A Comparison of the Technological Impact of Policy Instruments, Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Lipsey, R. E.; Weiss, M. Y., Foreign Production and Exports in Manufacturing Industries, in: Review of Economics and Statistics 63 (1981), S. 488-494.
- Mansfield, E. (1963) The speed of response of firms to new technologies, Quarterly Journal of Economics , Vol. 77, 290–311.
- Mansfield, E.; Romeo, A. (1980), Technology Transfer to Overseas Subsidiaries by U.S.-Based Firms. Quarterly Journal of Economics, December 1980, 95(4), pp. 737–50.
- Martínez, C.I.P. (2010), Energy use and energy efficiency development in the German and Colombian textile industries, *Energy for Sustainable Development*, Vol. 12, Issue 2, P. 94-10.
- Mielnik, O.; Goldemberg, J. (2002), Foreign direct investment and decoupling between energy and gross domestic product in developing countries, Energy Policy, Volume 30, Issue 2, January 2002, Pages 87-89.
- Munasinghe, M. (1999). Is environmental degradation an inevitable consequence of economic growth: tunnelling through the environmental Kuznets curve. *Ecological Economics*19: 89-109.
- Nelson, Richard R. and Edmund S. Phelps (1966). Investment in Humans, Technological Diffusion, and Economic Growth. *The American Economic Review*, 61, 69-75.
- OECD (2003), Economic Outlook, Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development. Paris.
- OECD OSLO Manual (2005), The measurement of scientific and technological activities, Proposed guidelines for collecting and interpreting technological innovation data, Paris.
- Peterson, S (2008). "Greenhouse gas mitigation in developing countries through technology transfer?: a survey of empirical evidence," Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, Springer, vol. 13(3), pages 283-305, March.

- Peterson, S. (2008), Greenhouse gas mitigation in developing countries through technology transfer?: a survey of empirical evidence, *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, vol. 13(3), pages 283-305.
- Popp, D. (2002), Induced innovation and energy prices. American Economic Review, Vol. 92, 160-180.
- Rennings, K. (1999), Innovation durch Umweltpolitik, ZEW Wirtschaftsanalysen, Vol. 36, Baden-Baden.
- Rhee, J. W.; Belot, T. (1989), Export Catalysts in Low-Income Countries. WP, World Bank.
- Saggi, K. (2002), Trade, Foreign Direct Investment, and International Technology Transfer: A Survey, *World Bank Research Observer*, vol. 17(2), pages 191-235.
- Schumpeter, J. (1912), *Theorie der Wirtschaftlichen Entwicklung*, Duncker&Humbolt, Berlin.
- Schumpeter, J. (1943) Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy, New York: Harper.
- Sprenger R.U. (1999) Economic globalization, FDI, environment and employment. In: Welfens P.J.J. (ed) Internationalization of the economy and environmental policy options. Springer, New York.
- Steger U. et al.(2005), Sustainable Development and Innovation in the Energy Sector, Springer.
- Stern Review (2007), Stern Review final report, HM Treasury http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/stern_review_report.htm
- Stoneman, P. (1983), Economic analysis of technological change, Oxford University Press.
- Tadesse B. and Ryan M., 2004, Host Market Characteristics, FDI and the FDI-Trade Relationship, The Journal of International Trade &Economic Development, vol.13, no.2, pp. 199-229.
- Törnqvist, L.; Vartia, P.; Vartia, Y.O. (1985), How should relative changes be measured? Am Stat 1985, 39(1):43-46.
- UNIDO (2010), Policies for Promoting Industrial Energy Efficiency in Developing Countries and Transition Economies, Executive Summary, United Nations Industrial Development Organization, Vienna.
- Walz, R.; Eichhammer, W. (2011), Benchmarking Green Innovation, presented on 3rd International Wuppertal Colloquium on "Sustainable Growth and Resource Productivity – Harnessing Industry and Policy Towards Eco-Innovation", Brussels; September 4 - 6, 2010, forthcoming.
- WB (2010), World Development Report 2010: Development and Climate Change. The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank, Washington.
- WIR (2009), World Investment Report, UNCTAD.

- Yeaple, S. (2008) "Firm Heterogeneity and the Structure of U.S. Multinational Activity: An Empirical Analysis." NBER Working Paper No. 14072, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Yue T.; Long, R.Y.; Zhuang Y.Y. (2011), Analysis of the FDI effect on energy consumption intensity in Jiangsu Province, Energy Procedia, Nr: 5, P. 100-105.

Appendix: Description of studied industries

The following industries are considered in this study. The classification is based on the Eurostat's data on sectoral energy consumption to which the existing production values (Nace 1.1.) are fitted.

Basic metal industry (combination of Iron & steel and non-ferrous metal industries.)	Iron & steel industry covers quantities consumed in the Iron and steel industry (NACE 27.1 Manufacture of basic iron and steel and of ferrous-alloys + 27.2 Manufacture of tubes + 27.3 Other first processing of iron and steel + 27.51 Casting of iron + 27.52 Casting of steel).			
	Non-ferrous metal industry covers quantities consumed in non-ferrous metals industry (NACE 27.4 Manufacture of basic precious and non-ferrous metals + 27.53 Casting of light metals + 27.54 Casting of other non-ferrous metals).			
Chemical industry	Chemical industry covers quantities consumed in the chemical industry (NACE 24 Manufacture of chemicals and chemical products).			
Non-metallic mineral products industry	Non-metallic mineral products industry covers quantities consumed in the non-metallic mineral products industry (NACE 26 Manufacture of other non-metallic mineral products).			
Food, drink and tobacco industry	Food, drink & tobacco industry covers quantities consumed in the food, drink and tobacco industry (NACE 15 Manufacture of food products and beverages + 16 Manufacture of tobacco products).			
Textile, leather and clothing industry	Textile, leather & clothing industry covers quantities consumed in the textile, leather and clothing industry (NACE 17 Manufacture of textiles + 18 Manufacture of wearing apparel; dressing and dyeing of fur + 19 Tanning and dressing of leather; manufacture of luggage, handbags, saddlery, harness and footwear).			
Paper and printing industry	Paper & printing industry covers quantities consumed in the paper and printing industry (NACE 21 Manufacture of pulp, paper and paper products + 22 Publishing, printing and reproduction of recorded media).			
Engineering and other metal industry	Engineering & other metal industry covers quantities consumed in the engineering and other metal industries (NACE 28 Manufacture of fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment + 29 Manufacture of machinery and equipments n.e.c. + 30 Manufacture of office machinery and computers + 31 Manufacture of electrical machinery and apparatus n.e.c. + 32 Manufacture of radio, television and communication equipment and apparatus + 34 Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers + 35 Manufacture of other transport equipment).			
Other non-classified industries	Other non-classified industries cover quantities consumed in other, non-classified industries (NACE 20 Manufacture of wood and of products of wood and cork, except furniture; manufacture of articles of straw and plaiting materials + 25 Manufacture of rubber and plastic products + 33 Manufacture of medical, precision and optical instruments, watches and clocks + 36 Manufacture of furniture; manufacturing n.e.c. + 37 Recycling + 45 Construction).			

EIIW Discussion Papers

ISSN 1430-5445:

Standing orders (usually 13 issues or more p.a.): academic rate 95 Euro p.a.; normal rate 250 Euro p.a.

Single orders: academic rate 10 Euro per copy; normal rate 20 Euro per copy.

Die Zusammenfassungen der Beiträge finden Sie im Internet unter: The abstracts of the publications can be found in the internet under:

http://www.eiiw.eu

- No. 100 **Gavrilenkov, E:** Macroeconomic Situation in Russia Growth, Investment and Capital Flows, October 2002
- No. 101 Agata, K.: Internet, Economic Growth and Globalization, November 2002
- No. 102 Blind, K.; Jungmittag, A.: Ausländische Direktinvestitionen, Importe und Innovationen im Dienstleistungsgewerbe, February 2003
- No. 103 Welfens, P.J.J.; Kirn, T.: Mittelstandsentwicklung, BASEL-II-Kreditmarktprobleme und Kapitalmarktperspektiven, Juli 2003
- No. 104 **Standke, K.-H.:** The Impact of International Organisations on National Science and Technology Policy and on Good Governance, March 2003
- No. 105 Welfens, P.J.J.: Exchange Rate Dynamics and Structural Adjustment in Europe, May 2003
- No. 106 Welfens, P.J.J.; Jungmittag, A.; Kauffmann, A.; Schumann, Ch.: EU Eastern Enlargement and Structural Change: Specialization Patterns in Accession Countries and Economic Dynamics in the Single Market, May 2003
- No. 107 Welfens, P.J.J.: Überwindung der Wirtschaftskrise in der Eurozone: Stabilitäts-, Wachstums- und Strukturpolitik, September 2003
- No. 108 Welfens, P.J.J.: Risk Pricing, Investment and Prudential Supervision: A Critical Evaluation of Basel II Rules, September 2003
- No. 109 Welfens, P.J.J.; Ponder, J.K.: Digital EU Eastern Enlargement, October 2003
- No. 110 Addison, J.T.; Teixeira, P.: What Have We Learned About The Employment Effects of Severance Pay? Further Iterations of Lazear et al., October 2003
- No. 111 Gavrilenkov, E.: Diversification of the Russian Economy and Growth, October 2003
- No. 112 Wiegert, R.: Russia's Banking System, the Central Bank and the Exchange Rate Regime, November 2003
- No. 113 Shi, S.: China's Accession to WTO and its Impacts on Foreign Direct Investment, November 2003

- No. 114 Welfens, P.J.J.: The End of the Stability Pact: Arguments for a New Treaty, December 2003
- No. 115 Addison, J.T.; Teixeira, P.: The effect of worker representation on employment behaviour in Germany: another case of -2.5%, January 2004
- No. 116 Borbèly, D.: EU Export Specialization Patterns in Selected Accession Countries, March 2004
- No. 117 Welfens, P.J.J.: Auf dem Weg in eine europäische Informations- und Wissensgesellschaft: Probleme, Weichenstellungen, Politikoptionen, Januar 2004
- No. 118 Markova, E.: Liberalisation of Telecommunications in Russia, December 2003
- No. 119 Welfens, P.J.J.; Markova, E.: Private and Public Financing of Infrastructure: Theory, International Experience and Policy Implications for Russia, February 2004
- No. 120 Welfens, P.J.J.: EU Innovation Policy: Analysis and Critique, March 2004
- No. 121 **Jungmittag, A.; Welfens, P.J.J.:** Politikberatung und empirische Wirtschaftsforschung: Entwicklungen, Probleme, Optionen für mehr Rationalität in der Wirtschaftspolitik, März 2004
- No. 122 **Borbèly, D.:** Competition among Cohesion and Accession Countries: Comparative Analysis of Specialization within the EU Market, June 2004
- No. 123 Welfens, P.J.J.: Digitale Soziale Marktwirtschaft: Probleme und Reformoptionen im Kontext der Expansion der Informations- und Kommunikationstechnologie, Mai 2004
- No. 124 Welfens, P.J.J.; Kauffmann, A.; Keim, M.: Liberalization of Electricity Markets in Selected European Countries, July 2004
- No. 125 Bartelmus, P.: SEEA Revision: Accounting for Sustainability?, August 2004
- No. 126 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbèly, D.: Exchange Rate Developments and Stock Market Dynamics in Transition Countries: Theory and Empirical Analysis, November 2004
- No. 127 Welfens, P.J.J.: Innovations in the Digital Economy: Promotion of R&D and Growth in Open Economies, January 2005
- No. 128 Welfens, P.J.J.: Savings, Investment and Growth: New Approaches for Macroeconomic Modelling, February 2005
- No. 129 **Pospiezna, P.:** The application of EU Common Trade Policy in new Memberstates after Enlargement – Consequences on Russia's Trade with Poland, March 2005
- No. 130 **Pospiezna, P.; Welfens, P.J.J.:** Economic Opening up of Russia: Establishment of new EU-RF Trade Relations in View of EU Eastern Enlargement, April 2005
- No. 131 Welfens, P.J.J.: Significant Market Power in Telecommunications: Theoretical and Practical Aspects, May 2005
- No. 132 Welfens, P.J.J.: A Quasi-Cobb Douglas Production Function with Sectoral Progress: Theory and Application to the New Economy, May 2005
- No. 133 **Jungmittag, A.; Welfens, P.J.J:** Institutions, Telecommunications Dynamics and Policy Challenges: Theory and Empirical Analysis for Germany, May 2005

- No. 134 Libman, A.: Russia's Integration into the World Economy: An Interjurisdictional Competition View, June 2005
- No. 135 Feiguine, G.: Beitritt Russlands zur WTO Probleme und Perspektiven, September 2005
- No. 136 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rational Regulatory Policy for the Digital Economy: Theory and EU Policy Options, October 2005
- No. 137 Welfens, P.J.J.: Schattenregulierung in der Telekommunikationswirtschaft, November 2005
- No. 138 **Borbèly, D.:** Determinants of Trade Specialization in the New EU Member States, November 2005
- No. 139 Welfens, P.J.J.: Interdependency of Real Exchange Rate, Trade, Innovation, Structural Change and Growth, December 2005
- No. 140 **Borbély D., Welfens, P.J.J.:** Structural Change, Innovation and Growth in the Context of EU Eastern Enlargement, January 2006
- No. 141 Schumann, Ch.: Financing Studies: Financial Support schemes for students in selected countries, January 2006
- No. 142 Welfens, P.J.J.: Digitale Innovationen, Neue Märkte und Telekomregulierung, März 2006
- No. 143 Welfens, P.J.J.: Information and Communication Technology: Dynamics, Integration and Economic Stability, July 2006
- No. 144 Welfens, P.J.J.: Grundlagen rationaler Transportpolitik bei Integration, August 2006
- No. 145 **Jungmittag**, A.: Technological Specialization as a driving Force of Production Specialization, October 2006
- No. 146 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rational Regulatory Policy for the Digital Economy: Theory and EU-Policy Options, October 2006
- No. 147 Welfens, P.J.J.: Internationalization of EU ICT Industries: The Case of SAP, December 2006
- No. 148 Welfens, P.J.J.: Marktwirtschaftliche Perspektiven der Energiepolitik in der EU: Ziele, Probleme, Politikoptionen, Dezember 2006
- No. 149 Vogelsang, M.: Trade of IT Services in a Macroeconomic General Equilibrium Model, December 2006
- No. 150 **Cassel, D., Welfens, P.J.J.:** Regional Integration, Institutional Dynamics and International Competitiveness, December 2006
- No. 151 Welfens, P.J.J., Keim, M.: Finanzmarktintegration und Wirtschaftsentwicklung im Kontext der EU-Osterweiterung, März 2007
- No. 152 **Kutlina, Z.:** Realwirtschaftliche und monetäre Entwicklungen im Transformationsprozess ausgewählter mittel- und osteuropäischer Länder, April 2007
- No. 153 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbély, D.: Structural Change, Growth and Bazaar Effects in the Single EU Market, September 2008
- No. 154 **Feiguine, G.:** Die Beziehungen zwischen Russland und der EU nach der EU-Osterweiterung: Stand und Entwicklungsperspektiven, Oktober 2008

- No. 155 Welfens, P.J.J.: Ungelöste Probleme der Bankenaufsicht, Oktober 2008
- No. 156 Addison J.T.: The Performance Effects of Unions. Codetermination, and Employee Involvement: Comparing the United States and Germany (With an Addendum on the United Kingdom), November 2008
- No. 157 Welfens, P.J.J.: Portfoliomodell und langfristiges Wachstum: Neue Makroperspektiven, November 2008
- No. 158 Welfens, P.J.J.: Growth, Structural Dynamics and EU Integration in the Context of the Lisbon Agenda, November 2008
- No. 159 Welfens, P.J.J.: Growth, Innovation and Natural Resources, December 2008
- No. 160 Islami, M.: Interdependence Between Foreign Exchange Markets and Stock Markets in Selected European Countries, December 2008
- No. 161 Welfens, P.J.J.: Portfolio Modelling and Growth, January 2009
- No. 162 Bartelmus, P.: Sustainable Development Has It Run Its Course?, January 2009
- No. 163 Welfens, P.J.J.: Intégration Européenne et Mondialisation: Défis, Débats, Options, February 2009
- No. 164 Welfens, P.J.J.: ЭКОНОМИЧЕСКИЙ РОСТ, ИННОВАЦИИ И ПРИРОДНЫЕ РЕСУРСЫ, February 2009
- No. 165 Welfens, P.J.J.; Vogelsang, M.: Regulierung und Innovationsdynamik in der EU-Telekommunikationswirtschaft, February 2009
- No. 166 Welfens, P.J.J.: The International Banking Crisis: Lessons and EU Reforms, February 2009
- No. 167 Schröder, C.: Financial System and Innovations: Determinants of Early Stage Venture Capital in Europe, March 2009
- No. 168 Welfens, P.J.J.: Marshall-Lerner Condition and Economic Globalization, April 2009
- No. 169 Welfens, P.J.J.: Explaining Oil Price Dynamics, May 2009
- No. 170 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbély D.: Structural Change, Innovation and Growth in the Single EU Market, August 2009
- No. 171 Welfens, P.J.J.: Innovationen und Transatlantische Bankenkrise: Eine ordnungspolitische Analyse, August 2009
- No. 172 Erdem, D.; Meyer, K.: Natural Gas Import Dynamics and Russia's Role in the Security of German's Supply Strategy, December 2009
- No. 173 Welfens P.J.J; Perret K.J.: Structural Change, Specialization and Growth in EU 25, January 2010
- No. 174 Welfens P.J.J.; Perret K.J.; Erdem D.: Global Economic Sustainability Indicator: Analysis and Policy Options for the Copenhagen Process, February 2010
- No. 175 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rating, Kapitalmarktsignale und Risikomanagement: Reformansätze nach der Transatlantischen Bankenkrise, Februar 2010
- No. 176 Mahmutovic, Z.: Patendatenbank: Implementierung und Nutzung, Juli 2010
- No. 177 Welfens, P.J.J.: Toward a New Concept of Universal Services: The Role of Digital Mobile Services and Network Neutrality, November 2010

- No. 178 **Perret J.K.:** A Core-Periphery Pattern in Russia Twin Peaks or a Rat´s Tail, December 2010
- No. 179 Welfens P.J.J.: New Open Economy Policy Perspectives: Modified Golden Rule and Hybrid Welfare, December 2010
- No. 180 Welfens P.J.J.: European and Global Reform Requirements for Overcoming the Banking Crisis, December 2010
- No. 181 Szanyi, M.: Industrial Clusters: Concepts and Empirical Evidence from East-Central Europe, December 2010
- No. 182 **Szalavetz, A.:** The Hungarian automotive sector a comparative CEE perspective with special emphasis on structural change, December 2010
- No. 183 Lengyel,B.: The Hungarian ICT sector a comparative CEE perspective with special emphasis on structural change, December 2010
- No. 184 Lengyel, B.: Regional clustering tendencies of the Hungarian automotive and ICT industries in the first half of the 2000's, December 2010
- No. 185 Schröder, C.: Regionale und unternehmensspezifische Faktoren einer hohen Wachstumsdynamik von IKT Unternehmen in Deutschland, Dezember 2010
- No. 186 **Emons, O.:** Innovation and Specialization Dynamics in the European Automotive Sector: Comparative Analysis of Cooperation & Application Network, October 2010
- No. 187 Welfens, P.J.J.: The Twin Crisis: From the Transatlantic Banking Crisis to the Euro Crisis?, January 2011
- No. 188 Welfens, P.J.J.: Green ICT Dynamics: Key Issues and Findings for Germany, March 2012

EIIW Economic Policy Analysis:

- No. 1 Welfens, P.J.J.: Globalisierung der Wirtschaft und Krise des Sozialstaats: Ist die Wirtschaftswissenschaft am Ende?, April 1997
- No. 2 Welfens, P.J.J.: Nach der D-Mark kommt die E-Mark: Auf dem Weg zur EU-Währungsunion, Juli 1997
- No. 3 Welfens, P.J.J.: Beschäftigungsförderliche Steuerreform in Deutschland zum Euro-Start: Für eine wachstumsorientierte Doppelsteuerreform, Oktober 1998

Fordern Sie den EIIW Newsletter an: www.eiiw.eu

Please subscribe to EIIW Newsletter: www.eiiw.eu

Weitere Beiträge von Interesse: Titels of related interest:

Most recent books also see the last page.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; BORBÉLY, D. (2009), Europäische Integration und Digitale Weltwirtschaft, Band 4: EU-Osterweiterung, IKT und Strukturwandel, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

KEIM, Martin (2009), Europäische Integration und Digitale Weltwirtschaft, Band 3: Finanzmarktintegration in Europa: Implikationen für Stabilität und Wachstum in sozialen Marktwirtschaften; Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

BLEISCHWITZ, R.; WELFENS, P.J.J.; ZHANG, Z. (2009), Sustainable Growth and Resource Productivity, Sheffield: Greanleaf.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; ADDISON, J.T. (2009), Innovation, Employment and Growth Policy Issues in the EU and the US, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; RYAN, C.; CHIRATHIVAT, S.; KNIPPING, F. (2009), EU-ASEAN, Facing Economic Globalisation, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2009), Transatlantische Bankenkrise, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WOLF, H.C.; WOLTERS, J. (eds., 2008), International Economics and Economic Policy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WALTHER-KLAUS, E. (eds., 2008), Digital Excelence, University Meets Economy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2008), Digital Integration, Growth and Rational Regulation, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2007), Innovation in Macroeconomics, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WESKE, M. (eds., 2007), Digital Economic Dynamics, Innovations, Networks and Regulations, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., WESKE, M. (eds., 2006): Innovations, Digital Economic Dynamics and Regulatory Policy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., KNIPPING, F., CHIRATHIVAT, S., RYAN, C. (eds., 2006): Integration in Asia and Europe: Historical Dynamics, Political Issues and Economic Perspectives, Heidelberg: Springer.

BROADMAN, H.G., PAAS, T., WELFENS, P.J.J. (eds., 2006): Economic Liberalization and Integration Policy Options for Eastern Europe and Russia, Heidelberg: Springer.

BORBÉLY, D. (2006): Trade Specialization in the Enlarged European Union, Heidelberg/Berlin: Springer.

JUNGMITTAG, A. (2006): Internationale Innovationsdynamik, Spezialisierung und Wirtschaftswachstum in der EU, Heidelberg: Physica.

WELFENS, P.J.J., WZIATEK-KUBIAK, (eds., 2005): Structural Change and Exchange Rate Dynamics – The Economics of EU Eastern Enlargement; Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., ZOCHE, P., JUNGMITTAG, A. (et al. 2005): Internetwirtschaft 2010 (final Report for the German Federal Government; joint study EIIW and Fraunhofer Institute for System Dynamics and Innovation, Karlsruhe), Heidelberg: Physica.

GRAHAM, E., ODING, N., WELFENS, P.J.J., (2005): Internationalization and Economic Policy Reforms in Transition Countries, Heidelberg: Springer.

GAVRILENKOW, E., WELFENS, P.J.J., (2005): Infrastructure, Investments and Economic Integration: Perspectives for Eastern Europe and Russia, Moscow: HSE.

APOLTE, T.; CASPERS, R.; WELFENS, P.J.J. (2004), Ordnungsökonomische Grundlagen nationaler und internationaler Wirtschaftspolitik, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

GAVRILENKOV, E.; WELFENS, P.J.J.; WIEGERT, R. (2004), Economic Opening Up and Growth in Russia, Heidelberg and New York: Springer.